STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

---

Certiorari to Lexington County

Honorable Brooks P. Goldsmith, Circuit Court Judge

---

**RECEIVED**

**Apr 15 2020**

**S.C. SUPREME COURT**

CURTIS T. JOHNSON,

PETITIONER

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO 2019-001694

---

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

---

SARAH E. SHIPE  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

**

## **ISSUE PRESENTED**

Did the PCR court err in finding trial counsel was not ineffective for failing to object to statements made by the solicitor during closing that were inflammatory and improperly played to the jury's emotions where the solicitor repeatedly referred to the decedent as an "Iraqi war veteran," one wounded man's body as having been "splattered," and another injured man's wound as a "bone sticking out [of] his leg?"

## STATEMENT

On April 30, 2007, a Lexington County grand jury indicted petitioner for murder, two counts of assault and battery with intent to kill, and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. App. 1116-23.

Petitioner's case was called to trial on September 14-18, 2009, before the Honorable Robin B. Stillwell in Lexington County. App. 1. Elizabeth Fullwood represented petitioner and Donald Myers and Colleen Dixon represented the state. App. 2.

At trial, petitioner admitted responsibility in the incident but asserted self-defense and defense of others. Petitioner testified in his defense. Rebekah Fleming, petitioner's ex paramour and mother of his unborn child, started dating Isaac Wilson. Isaac was unhappy that Rebekah and petitioner continued having a close friendship. One evening, Isaac and his roommate, Walter Gadson, showed up at Rebekah's home. Rebekah had petitioner over and was braiding his hair. App. 110, l. 24-111, l. 1. Petitioner left Rebekah's home in his car, Isaac and Walter followed him. At a stoplight Isaac and Walter confronted petitioner and pointed a gun at him. App. 667-75. Petitioner went home and told his brother, Kerwin Parker, about the confrontation and they decided to go talk things over and make peace with Isaac. App. 677, l. 14-678, l. 14.

When petitioner and his brother arrived at Isaac's apartment his brother got out to go speak with Isaac and petitioner stayed in the car. A short time later, petitioner saw his brother running back towards the car. There were three men, Isaac, Walter, and A.J. Wilson, with guns pointed at his brother. App. 687, l. 25-688, l. 25. His brother stopped and tried to calm the men down saying, "I'm going to leave, me and my brother." App. 903-05. Petitioner heard the sound of a gun cocking and saw Walter running towards his brother. In an effort to stop Walter from shooting his brother, petitioner pressed the gas pedal aiming the car at Walter. At that time,

Walter turned the gun towards petitioner inside the car and petitioner continued driving towards him and hit Walter with the car. App. 905-06. When petitioner got out of the car, Isaac and A.J. were circling his brother with shotguns pointed at him. In fear for his life and that of his brother, petitioner shot Isaac and A.J. App. 902-14. Ultimately, Isaac Wilson was killed, A.J. Wilson sustained injury to his spinal cord, and Walter Gadson sustained an injury to his leg.

During the state's closing, Solicitor Myers, referring to A.J. Wilson said, "his whole body [was] splattered, his spinal cord [was] severed." App. 806, ll. 18-20. Solicitor Myers repeatedly said: "Isaac[] [is] dead, A.J.[] [is] in a wheelchair, Walter[] [has] got a bone sticking out [of] his leg." App. 814, ll. 6-7; 816, ll. 16-17; 819, ll. 24-25; 830, ll. 21-22. Later, Myers referred to the decedent as "[a]n Iraqi war veteran" and A.J. Wilson as [a] young man who [is] asleep in a chair for the rest of his life." App. 833, ll. 3-5.

Before deliberation, the jury was instructed on murder, voluntary manslaughter, assault and battery with intent to kill, assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature, mutual combat, self-defense, and defense of others. App. 852-64. The jury found petitioner guilty of voluntary manslaughter, two counts of assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature, and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. App. 876. On October 21, 2009, Judge Stillwell sentenced petitioner to an aggregate term of thirty-five years' imprisonment.

A hearing was held on October 3, 2011, to reconstruct portions of trial missing from the original transcript due to the court reporter's equipment malfunction. Subsequently, an *Anders*<sup>1</sup> brief was filed on petitioner's behalf. Petitioner's convictions were affirmed pursuant to the *Anders* procedure in *State v. Johnson*, 2013-UP-022 (S.C. Ct. App. filed Jan. 16, 2013).

---

<sup>1</sup> *Anders v. California*, 386 U.S. 738 (1967).

Thereafter, petitioner filed an application for PCR on August 22, 2015. App. 971. On April 21, 2015, an evidentiary hearing was held before the Honorable Brooks Goldsmith. App. 993. Anna Good represented petitioner and Walt Whitmire, assistant attorney general, represented the state. App. 993.

At the evidentiary hearing petitioner testified regarding solicitor Myers' statements during closing. Petitioner said trial counsel did not object to any of the inflammatory statements made during closing. App. 1004, l. 14-1005, 25. Trial counsel Fullwood testified it was her general practice not to object during closing unless "golden rule type of argument[s]" were made or arguments tending to ask for a verdict based on something outside the evidence. Fullwood agreed solicitor Myers had past convictions reversed on appeal based on prejudicial comments made during closing. Fullwood admitted she did not object to any of the statements made by Myer's during closing. App. 1046, ll. 14-25; 1053, l. 21-1055, l. 18.

On June 7, 2019, Judge Goldsmith signed an order denying PCR. App. 1078-1107. Judge Goldsmith found the portions of the state's argument argued above were neither inflammatory nor improper based on the record. App. 1099. Judge Goldsmith also found any references to the condition of the injured men "closely contained to and reasonably inferred from the record of the injuries sustained," the state did not impermissibly play to the passions or prejudice of jury by referring to the decedent as a veteran, and that the arguments were permissible. App. 1099-1100.

On July 26, 2019, petitioner filed a motion to alter or amend pursuant to Rule 59(e), SCRCF. App. 1111. On September 10, 2019, Judge Goldsmith signed an order denying petitioner's motion. App. 1115.

This appeal follows.

## ARGUMENT

The PCR court erred in finding trial counsel was not ineffective for failing to object to statements made by the solicitor during closing that were inflammatory and improperly played to the jury's emotions where the solicitor repeatedly referred to the decedent as an "Iraqi war veteran," one wounded man's body as having been "splattered," and another injured man's wound as a "bone sticking out [of] his leg."

Improper comments do not automatically require reversal if they are not prejudicial to the defendant. *Johnson v. State*, 325 S.C. 182, 480 S.E.2d 733 (1997). On appeal, the court will view the alleged impropriety of the solicitor's argument in the context of the entire record, including whether the trial judge's instructions adequately cured the improper argument and whether there was overwhelming evidence of the defendant's guilt. *Id.* The appellant has the burden of proving he did not receive a fair trial because of the alleged improper argument. *Id.* The relevant question is whether the solicitor's comments so infected the trial with unfairness as to make the resulting conviction a denial of due process. *Donnelly v. DeChristoforo*, 416 U.S. 637 (1974); *State v. Patterson*, 324 S.C. 5, 482 S.E.2d 760, cert. denied, 522 U.S. 853 (1997).

The state's closing argument "must be carefully tailored so as not to appeal to the personal bias of the juror nor be calculated to arouse his passion or prejudice." *State v. Linder*, 276 S.C. 304, 312, 278 S.E.2d 335, 339 (1981). Solicitor Myers violated this well established rule by repeatedly referring gratuitously to the men's injuries, "his whole body [was] splattered, his spinal court is severed," "one[] [had] a bone sticking out [of] his leg," as well as referencing the decedent as "an Iraqi War veteran," a fact that had no relevance in petitioner's trial. The sole purpose of Myers' repetitious statements was to arouse the emotions of the jury and distract from the credibility of two of the state's witnesses. At trial, A.J. Wilson, Walter Gadson, and

petitioner each testified regarding the incident. Walter had multiple prior convictions including burglary and fraudulent check writing. App. 140-41. A.J. claimed he was not under the influence of any substance however, he had marijuana and ecstasy pills in his pocket on the night of the incident. App. 266. The version of events given by petitioner differed from the state's witnesses, A.J. and Walter who both testified that petitioner was the aggressor that night notwithstanding the prior confrontation at the stoplight. The inflammatory statements made during closing greatly prejudiced petitioner in a trial where the credibility of witnesses, especially petitioner, was at stake.

In *Fortune v. State*, our Supreme Court found the solicitor's "improper remarks violated the defendant's rights under the Due Process Clause," and reversed the denial PCR. *Fortune v. State*, 428 S.C. 545, 547, 837 S.E.2d 37, 38 (2019). Here, trial counsel was deficient for failing to object to Myers' inflammatory statements. Myers' repetitious statements asked the jury to make a decision based on emotion rather than the evidence presented. It should be of no import to the jury whether decedent was a war veteran or worked in retail. Furthermore, petitioner was prejudiced where Myers' graphic depiction of the injuries likely improperly influenced the jury as it deliberated regarding petitioner's valid claim of self-defense.

**CONCLUSION**

By reason of the foregoing argument, a writ of certiorari should be issued to allow full briefing on this issue.