STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE SUPREME COURT

---

**RECEIVED**

**Sep 22 2020**

CERTIORARI TO LEXINGTON COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas  
The Honorable Brooks P. Goldsmith, PCR Judge

---

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Appellate Case No. 2019-001694

---

CURTIS T. JOHNSON,

PETITIONER,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT.

---

**RETURN TO PETITION FOR A WRIT OF CERTIORARI**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

LILLIAN L. MEADOWS  
Assistant Attorney General  
S.C. Bar No. 103665

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

**

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

## ARGUMENT

**This Court should reject Petitioner’s contention the PCR court erroneously found counsel was not constitutionally ineffective for failing to object to certain portions of the solicitor’s closing argument where Petitioner relies in part on statements never raised and therefore not considered by the PCR court. Issue preservation concerns aside, however, the PCR court correctly concluded counsel was not ineffective for failing to object to these statements because they were neither improper nor prejudicial based on the evidence presented and when considered in the context of the entire proceeding.**

Petitioner contends the PCR court erred in concluding Counsel was not ineffective for failing to object to alleged inflammatory statements by the solicitor during his closing argument. Two of the statements Petitioner relies on in support of this argument were not raised nor ruled up by the PCR court, and therefore not properly before this Court. Even if these statements were preserved, however, Petitioner cannot show Counsel was ineffective because the solicitor’s closing argument did not leave room for a meritorious objection by trial counsel, and neither deficient performance nor prejudice results. As these findings are supported by probative evidence and do not constitute an error of law, certiorari should be denied.

### **A. Issue Preservation**

In South Carolina, issue preservation requirements are a fundamental component of appellate procedure. *Gaddy v. Douglass*, 359 S.C. 329, 350, 597 S.E.2d 12, 23 (Ct. App. 2004). The key purpose of those requirements is “to give the trial court a fair opportunity to rule on the issues, and thus provide [the appellate court] with a platform for meaningful appellate review.” *Queen’s Grant II Horizontal Prop. Regime v. Greenwood Dev. Corp.*, 368 S.C. 342, 373, 628 S.E.2d 902, 919 (Ct. App. 2006); *cf. Ellie, Inc. v. Miccichi*, 358 S.C. 78, 103, 594 S.E.2d 485, 498 (Ct. App.2004) (“Without an initial ruling by the trial court, a reviewing court simply would not be able to evaluate whether the trial court committed error.”); Significantly, the application of issue preservation requirements ensures the trial court has an opportunity “to rule properly after it

considered all relevant facts, law, and **arguments.**” *I’On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant*, 338 S.C. 406, 422, 526 S.E.2d 716, 724 (2000) (emphasis added).

In order for an issue to be preserved for appellate review pursuant to our issue preservation requirements, the issue must have been: (1) raised to and ruled upon by the trial court; (2) raised by the appellant; (3) raised in a timely manner; and (4) raised to the trial court with sufficient specificity. *State v. Rogers*, 361 S.C. 178, 183, 603 S.E.2d 910, 912-913 (Ct. App. 2004); *see also* JEAN HOEFER TOAL ET AL., *APPELLATE PRACTICE IN SOUTH CAROLINA* 57 (2nd ed. 2002) (identifying the four requirements that must be met in order for an issue to be properly preserved for appellate review). If an error is not presented to and ruled upon by the trial judge, it cannot be raised for the first time to the appellate court. *State v. Freiburger*, 366 S.C. 125, 135, 620 S.E.2d 737, 742 (2005). Moreover, a party cannot raise one argument in support of an issue at trial and then raise a different argument in support of that issue to the appellate court. *State v. Bailey*, 298 S.C. 1, 5, 377 S.E.2d 581, 584 (1989).

Petitioner’s reliance on two of the solicitor’s statements, (citing App. 816 and 830)—which Counsel allegedly should have objected to—to buttress his argument on appeal are not properly before this Court. No testimony was elicited regarding these statements nor were they raised in the PCR application or addressed in the order of dismissal. The PCR court was not presented with the opportunity to consider or review these statements in ruling on this issue, these statements are not properly before this Court.

#### **B. Counsel’s Alleged Failure to Object to the State’s Closing Argument**

As an initial matter, the “use and timing of objections at trial is a quintessential matter of strategy and discretion on the part of the trial attorney, and will very seldom constitute objectively deficient representation.” *United States v. Nguyen*, 379 F. App’x 177, 181 (3d Cir. 2010);

*c.f. Humphries v. Ozmint*, 397 F.3d 206, 234 (4th Cir. 2005) (Luttig, J., concurring) (“[I]t is well established that failure to object to inadmissible or objectionable material for tactical reasons can constitute objectively reasonable trial strategy under *Strickland*.”). Because Petitioner’s underlying allegation is that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to object to prosecutorial misconduct, the standard of law governing prosecutorial misconduct is relevant to the inquiry.

The relevant question is “whether the solicitor’s comments so infected the trial with unfairness as to make the resulting conviction a denial of due process.” *Humphries v. State*, 351 S.C. 362, 373, 570 S.E.2d 160, 166 (2002); *accord. Donnelly v. DeChristoforo*, 416 U.S. 637, 643 (1974). The test for reversible prosecutorial misconduct generally has two components: that (1) the prosecutor’s comments must in fact have been improper and (2) the remarks must have so prejudiced the defendant’s substantial rights that the defendant was denied a fair trial.” *Fortune v. State*, 428 S.C. 545, 550, 837 S.E.2d 37, 40 (2019) (citing *United States v. Chorman*, 910 F.2d 102, 113 (4th Cir. 1990).

Closing arguments are a basic and important element of the adversarial fact-finding process in a criminal trial, and such arguments serve “to sharpen and clarify the issues for resolution by the trier of fact in a criminal case” while also providing both the solicitor and defense counsel with an opportunity to advocate for their respective positions, argue for certain inferences to be drawn from the evidence presented, and identify the weaknesses in the other side’s positions. *Herring v. New York*, 422 U.S. 853, 862 (1975). When presenting a closing argument, a solicitor generally possesses “wide latitude” as to the substance of his remarks to the jury and is fully permitted to prosecute with earnestness and vigor. *Bates v. Lee*, 308 F.3d 411, 422 (4th Cir. 2002); *see also United States v. Isaacs*, 493 F.2d 1124, 1164 (7th Cir. 1974) (“The closing argument of a prosecutor need not be confined to such detached exposition as would be appropriate in a lecture

. . . because to shear him of all oratorical emphasis, while leaving wide latitude to the defense, is to load the scales of justice.” (citations and quotation marks omitted), *overruled on other grounds by United States v. Koen*, 982 F.2d 1101 (7th Cir. 1992)). A solicitor’s closing argument, however, “must not appeal to the personal biases of the jurors nor be calculated to arouse the jurors’ passions or prejudices, and its content should stay within the record and reasonable inferences to it.” *Humphries*, 351 S.C. at 373, 570 S.E.2d at 166 (citing *State v. Cooper*, 334 S.C. 540, 514 S.E.2d 584 (1999)).

At the PCR hearing, Counsel testified about a “fairly standard list of things Solicitors might do that’s inappropriate during closing arguments.” (App. 1046). She explained that she generally keeps a list on the table or just in her head, but that she tries to catch them all. (App. 1046). She aptly identified her shortlist as being “the gold rule type argument,” “burden shifting arguments,” and arguments she refers to as “asking for a verdict based on something outside of the evidence” such as emotion-evoking arguments. (App. 1054–54). Counsel testified hoped she would have objected if one of those occurred in Petitioner’s case. (App. 1047).

Counsel further agreed that the record reflected she did not object to the verbiage cited by Petitioner’s PCR counsel during the State’s closing argument. (App. 1054–56). Specifically, the solicitor referring to the deceased victim as an Iraqi war veteran and characterizing his body as “splattered;” the solicitor commenting that another victim was paralyzed for life and that he was “a young man asleep in a chair for the rest of his life;” and the solicitor stating, “I knew [Petitioner] couldn’t prove that.” (App. 806, 814, 819, 831, 833). PCR counsel stated the solicitor “mentions the body being splattered” on pages 814 and 819, and asked Counsel, “After the third time of him stating the body was splattered, did you not think that he was trying to stir the emotions of the jury

at that point?” (App. 1055). Notably, however, the solicitor refers to or mentions the body being “splattered” only once. (App. 806).

As discussed above, in determining whether Counsel’s failure to object to the solicitor’s closing argument constituted deficient performance, the reviewing court must first determine whether the prosecutor’s remarks constituted objectionable misconduct. *See Juan H. v. Allen*, 408 F.3d 1262, 1273 (9th Cir.2005) (explaining that the merits of the underlying claim “control the resolution of the *Strickland* claim because trial counsel cannot have been ineffective for failing to raise a meritless objection”); *see also Cunningham v. Wong*, 704 F.3d 1143, 1159 (9th Cir. 2013) (explaining that defense counsel’s failure to object during closing argument generally does not constitute deficient performance “absent egregious misstatements”).

Petitioner first contends the solicitor characterizing A.J.’s body as “splattered” was highly inflammatory and impermissibly played to the passions or prejudices of the jury.<sup>8</sup> Petitioner further contends the solicitor’s remarks about A.J.’s injuries—that his “spinal cord [was] severed” and that he will be in a wheelchair for the rest of his life—were similarly inflammatory and an attempt to improperly appeal to the emotions of the jury.

The PCR court properly concluded that none of these comments were even *remotely* improper, and were based upon facts established during trial or were aspects of the trial which were readily apparent to the jurors. A witness who observed A.J. immediately following the shooting stated “it looked like... some of his mouth was gone.” (App. 119). A.J.—who was clearly confined to a wheelchair at the time of the trial—testified he was paralyzed from the waist down and that he would never walk again as a result of the shooting. (App. 256–57). A.J.’s surgeon

---

<sup>8</sup> As discussed above, PCR counsel stated the solicitor made the “splattered” remark three times. The record reflects the comment was made only once. (App. 806).

further testified he suffered numerous injuries, including injuries to his vertebrae, face, mouth, extremities, shoulder, flank, wrist, and thumb. (App. 617–18). Thus, the testimony regarding the nature and extent of A.J.’s injuries likely “produced sympathy for the victim long before the [solicitor] gave his closing remarks.” *Duvall v. Reynolds*, 139 F.3d 768, 795 (10th Cir. 1998)

Petitioner next complains about the solicitor’s reference to Walter’s femur fracture—of which he sustained when Petitioner struck him with a vehicle—as having “a bone sticking out of his leg.” (App. 814, 816, 819, 830). The PCR court correctly noted that this reference is corroborated by prior testimony from Dr. Randall Suarez, the orthopedic surgeon who treated and operated on Walter’s leg. (App. 610–11) (Walter “had an open femur fracture, femur being the thigh bone, open meaning what happened, the bone had come through the muscle and the skin and exited . . . his thigh bone.”). Walter also testified about his injury, and that he had to have emergency surgery where Dr. Suarez placed a metal rod in his leg. (App. 171–72).

Finally, Petitioner asserts the solicitor impermissibly attempted to arouse the emotions of the jury by referring to Isaac—the deceased victim—as an “Iraqi war veteran.”<sup>9</sup> Although not relevant for purposes of proving the elements of the crime charged, the PCR court noted the solicitor nonetheless “did not impermissibly play to the passions or prejudices of the jury by making any more than a fleeting reference to [the] victim’s status as a veteran.” (App. 1000). *Cf. United States v. Wexler*, 79 F.2d 526, 530 (2d Cir. 1935) (stating that the closing argument of a prosecutor need not be “confined to such detached exposition as would be appropriate in a lecture”); *Berger v. United States*, 295 U.S. 78, 88 (1935) (“[A prosecutor] may prosecute with earnestness and vigor—indeed, he should do so.”).

---

<sup>9</sup> Walter testified that he met Isaac shortly after he returned from deployment. (App. 144–45).

The PCR court correctly deduced that these arguments were ultimately offered in furtherance of the State's requesting the jury to find malice or aggravating circumstances in the acts charged based upon specific facts presented in the testimony received.<sup>10</sup> (App. 831–34). There was no impermissible request by the State to view the evidence from the viewpoint of the victim or to decide the case on passion rather than reason. Because nothing in the solicitor's closing argument constituted a misstatement of the law, egregious or otherwise, any objection would have been fruitless.

Even assuming counsel should have objected to the above-mentioned remarks in the solicitor's closing argument, the PCR court correctly found Petitioner failed to meet his "burden of proving he did not receive a fair trial because of the alleged improper argument." *Humphries*, 351 S.C. at 373, 570 S.E.2d at 166. Because any excerpt of the State's closing exists as one moment in an extended trial, reviewing courts must examine the effect of any misconduct "within the context of the entire record." *State v. Patterson*, 324 S.C. 5, 17, 482 S.E.2d 760, 766 (1997) (citing *Donnelly*, 416 U.S. at 643).

Petitioner contends he was prejudiced by the solicitor's statements, specifically because the "credibility . . . of the witnesses was at stake" and further that the "graphic depiction of the

---

<sup>10</sup> Petitioner committed the crimes alleged in November 2006, prior to our legislature's passage of the Omnibus Crime Reduction and Sentencing Reform Act of 2010, which abolished all prior statutory and common law assault and battery offenses and replaced them with a number of new offenses. The trial judge in Petitioner's case therefore charged the jury on the common law definition of ABWIK and ABHAN. The common law defined the offense of ABHAN as "the unlawful act of violent injury to another accompanied by circumstances of aggravation. *State v. Foxworth*, 269 S.C. 496, 238 S.E.2d 172 (1977). "Circumstances of aggravation include the use of a deadly weapon, the intent to commit a felony, **infliction of serious bodily injury**, great disparity in the ages or physical conditions of the parties, a difference in gender, the purposeful infliction of shame and disgrace, taking indecent liberties or familiarities with a female, and resistance to lawful authority." *Foxworth*, 269 S.C. at 498, 238 S.E.2d at 173 (emphasis added).

injuries improperly influenced” the jury’s consideration of Petitioner’s self-defense claim. The extent of the victims’ injuries, however, are not probative on the issue of credibility and have no bearing on whether Petitioner acted in self-defense. The PCR court pointed out that “the entirety of the closing argument closely pertained to evidence properly received at trial and later corroborated through [Petitioner]’s own testimony.” (App. 804–34).

Accordingly, Petitioner has failed to demonstrate that Counsel’s failure to object to the solicitor’s remarks was “so serious as to *deprive the defendant of a fair trial.*” *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 687 (emphasis added); *see generally State v. Huggins*, 325 S.C. 103, 107, 481 S.E.2d 114, 116 (1997) (“A new trial will not be granted unless the prosecutor’s comments so infected the trial with unfairness as to make the resulting conviction a denial of due process.”).

**CONCLUSION**

Based on the foregoing argument, this Court should deny certiorari and affirm the PCR court's dismissal of Petitioner's PCR application. Should this Court grant the petition, the State seeks permission to more fully brief the issues discussed above.